Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited (Registration Number : 2016/383458/06) Annual Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020

Audited

In terms of S 29(1)(e)(ii) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 as amended, we confirm that the preparation of the following financial statements is the responsibility of Ajay Mistry CA(SA), Transaction Manager.

The following financial statements have been audited in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 as amended S 30(2)(b).

Annual financial statements

Contents	Page
Company information	2
Director's responsibility statement	3
Declaration by the Company Secretary	3
Director's report	4-5
Audit Committee Report	6-7
King IV Report	8-11
Independent auditor's report	12-17
Statement of financial position	18
Statement of comprehensive income	19
Statement of changes in equity	20
Statement of cash flows	21
Notes to the financial statements	22-43

Company information

for the year ended 31 March 2020

Directors PM Madala

DP Towers HS Tradonsky KW van Staden

Date of incorporation 02 September 2016

Registration number 2016/383458/06

Nature of business and principal activities To acquire the right, title and interest in and to residential

home loan assets with funds raised directly or indirectly by issue of debt instruments, and to manage the assets so

acquired.

Secretary Investec Group Data (Pty) Ltd

(Reg. No. 1937/009329/07)

Independent Auditor KPMG

Bankers Investec Bank Limited

Registered Office c/o Company Secretarial

Investec Limited 100 Grayston Drive

Sandown Sandton 2196

Postal address c/o Company Secretarial

Investec Limited PO Box 785700

Sandton 2146

Service providersThe servicer, administrator and interest rate swap counterparty

is Investec Bank Limited

The subordinated loan provider is Investec Bank Limited

Director's responsibility statement

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements of Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited, comprising the statement of financial position at 31 March 2020, and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. In addition, the directors are responsible for preparing the Directors' Report.

The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk management.

The auditor is responsible for the reporting on whether the annual financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

Approval of annual financial statements

The annual financial statements of Fox Street 6 (RF) Ltd, as identified in the first paragraph, were approved by the board of directors on 27 July 2020 and signed on their behalf by:

Director

Name: HS Tradonsky

70

Director

Name: KW van Staden

Declaration by the Company Secretary

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the South African Companies Act No 71 of 2008, as amended, I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the Company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission, for the year ended 31 March 2020, all such returns as are required in terms of the Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

INVESTEC
GROUP DATA PROPRIETARY LIMITED
AS SECRETARIES

AUTHORISED SIGNATORIES

Company Secretary

Name: PC le Roux

Director's report

for the year ended 31 March 2020

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the activities of the company for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Nature of business

To acquire the rights, title and interest in and to residential home loans using a securitisation structure, with funds being raised via the issue of debt instruments which are listed and unlisted, and to manage the assets so acquired. These assets provide the security for the debt instruments.

Operating results and financial position

The results of the Company's operations and cash flows for the year, and its financial position at 31 March 2020, are set out in the financial statements and require no further comment.

Share capital

Details of authorised and issued share capital are disclosed in note 6 to the financial statements.

Directorate

The directors of the Company at the date of this report are PM Madala, DP Towers, HS Tradonsky and KW van Staden.

Interest of the director and officers

None of the directors and officers have any interest in the issued share capital or any of the contracts entered into by the Company.

Dividends

No dividends were declared or paid during the current and prior year.

Controlled entities

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 10, *Consolidated Financial Statements*, Investec Bank Limited consolidates Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited. This is because Investec Bank Limited is exposed to variability of returns from Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited and has the ability to affect these returns through the power it has.

Director's report

for the year ended 31 March 2020

Going concern

Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited has been set up as an insolvency-remote special purpose vehicle. Secured creditors have agreed to certain subordination, non-petition, and enforcement clauses. Please refer to note 21 for further detail. Interest is accrued on the subordinated credit enhancement loan but limited in terms of (1) the transaction documents and the insolvency remote legal set-up and (2) the available cash in accordance with the Priority of Payments. In the event that there is insufficient cash available for the payment of any unpaid claims/liabilities at the end of the company's life, the unpaid portions are forfeited by those secured creditors. Any losses do not therefore amount to an act of insolvency.

Furthermore, in accordance with the transaction documents, when all assets have been expunged, all secured creditors will waive their claims against the Company. Because of this legal set-up, the Company's outgoing cash flows are limited to both its assets and the yield on these assets and it therefore continues to operate as a going concern.

Events after the reporting date

No material events have occurred between 31 March 2020 and the date of this report with the exception of the Covid-19 implications as stated in the Going Concerns statement in Note 21.

Auditor

KPMG Inc is the appointed auditor in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Audit Committee Report

Members of the Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee are all independent non-executive directors and comprises:

KW van Staden DP Towers PM Madala

The chairman of the Board of directors (the Board), serves on the Audit Committee, but another independent non-executive director acts as chairman thereof. Given that the Company is a special purpose vehicle incorporated as an Issuer in a securitisation scheme (as regulatory defined), the afore-going is considered acceptable and reasonable.

The Audit Committee is satisfied that the members thereof have the required knowledge and experience as set out in Section 94(5) of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008 as amended and Regulation 42 of the Companies Regulation, 2011.

Meetings held by the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee performs the duties laid upon it by Section 94(7) of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008 as amended, by holding meetings with the key role players on a regular basis and by the unrestricted access granted to the external auditors. The committee has met on the following dates during the year:

Date	Attendees
16 July 2019	KW van Staden
	DP Towers
24 February 2020	PM Madala

Expertise and experience of the finance function

The servicing, accounting and administration of the Company's assets are performed and prepared by Investec Bank Limited (jointly hereinafter "Management"). The Internal Audit function does not directly report to the Audit Committee, but highlights any matters relevant to the Company's annual financial statements via the Servicer and the Administrator to the Audit Committee.

The on-going secretarial administration of the Company's statutory records is done by Investec Group Data Proprietary Limited.

Independence of the external auditor

The Company's auditor is KPMG Inc.

The Audit Committee satisfied itself, through enquiry, that the external auditor is independent as defined by the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008 as amended and as per the standards stipulated by the auditing profession. Requisite assurance was sought and provided in terms of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008 as amended that internal governance processes within the firm support and demonstrate the claim to independence.

The Audit Committee, in consultation with the Servicer and the Administrator, agreed to the terms of the external auditor's engagement. The audit fee for the external audit has been considered and approved taking into consideration such factors as parallel interaction with the Servicer, timing of the audit, the extent of the work required and the scope.

Audit Committee Report

Discharge of responsibilities

The Audit Committee is satisfied that, in respect of the financial year under review, it has discharged its duties and responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference and in terms of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008 as amended. The Board concurred with the assessment.

The Audit Committee performed the following activities during the year under review:

- o Approved the contents of the Audit Committee's terms of reference approval
- o Approved the external auditor's fees for the 2020 audit;
- o Approved any other services provided by the auditors and
- o Considered the independence and objectivity of the external auditor.

Annual Financial Statements

Following the review by the Audit Committee of the annual financial statements of Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited for the year ended 31 March 2020 and based on the information provided to it, the committee considers that, in all material respects, the Company complies with the provisions of the Companies Act No 71 of 2008, as amended, International Financial Reporting Standards, and that the accounting policies applied are appropriate.

The Audit Committee concurs with the Board of Directors and management that the adoption of the going-concern status in preparation of the annual financial statements is appropriate.

The Audit Committee recommended the Company's 2020 annual financial statements for approval by the Board on 27 July 2020.

Chairman: Audit Committee

manes

King IV Report

for the year ended 31 March 2020

The Company is a ring-fenced entity and does not have employees of its own. All its functions have been outsourced to parties who strictly perform them in accordance with the transaction documents.

The board is responsible to ensure that the parties perform its duties in accordance with its mandate.

There is an established social and ethic committee that operates within its mandate and reports to the board.

	Company (Yes/No)	Compliance Status
	1	
board should lead ethically and effectively.	Yes	Our values require that directors behave with integrity and accountability, displaying consistent and uncompromising moral strength in order to promote and maintain trust. The Board sets the tone from the top in the manner in which it conducts itself and oversees the structures and the framework for corporate governance.
		Conflicts of interest are managed by the directors disclosing any potential conflicts at the opening of each Board meeting and should there be potential conflicts of interest, directors are prohibited from voting on the matter to be considered.
board should govern the ethics of the organisation way that supports the establishment of an ethical ure.	Yes	The board ensures that: - The direction is set for ethics - Whistle-blowing procedures have been put in place which ensures that all stakeholders who disclose unlawful or irregular conduct by the company stakeholders are protected.
board should ensure that the organisation is and is to be a responsible corporate citizen.	Yes	The board provides strategic guidance to the Company and ensures that all decisions consider the immediate and long-term impact these have on the environment, the communities in which the Company operates as well as internal and external stakeholders. For the Company, being a good corporate citizen is about building our businesses to ensure we have a positive impact on the economy.
ı	way that supports the establishment of an ethical are. board should ensure that the organisation is and is	board should lead ethically and effectively. Yes board should govern the ethics of the organisation way that supports the establishment of an ethical are. board should ensure that the organisation is and is

King IV Report (continued) for the year ended 31 March 2020

King IV Principle	Description	Applied by Company (Yes/No)	Compliance Status					
	Strategy, Performance and Reporting							
4	The board should appreciate that the organisation's core purpose, its risks and opportunities, strategy, business model, performance and sustainable development are all inseparable elements of the value creation process.	Yes	The board charter emphasises the fact that they acknowledge that strategy, risk, performance and sustainability are inseparable. The board and its committees monitor key performance indicators for material issues, as well as a broader range of sustainability, risk and compliance indicators.					
5	The board should ensure that reports issued by the organisation enable stakeholders to make informed assessments of the organisation's performance and its short, medium and long term prospects.	Yes	The Board ensures that there are processes in place enabling complete, timely relevant, accurate and accessible risk disclosure to stakeholders and monitors Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited's communication with all stakeholders and disclosures made to ensure transparent and effective communication. The Audit Committee is tasked with the specific duty of considering whether the Annual Report taken as a whole was fair, balanced and understandable and provided the information necessary for stakeholders to assess the company's performance.					
	Gover	nance Functional	Areas					
6	The board should serve as the focal point and custodian of corporate governance in the organisation.	Yes	The board operates in accordance with a detailed charter that specifically deals with the roles, responsibilities and accountabilities of the directors. It meets at least three (3) times a year. Through its meetings and interaction with management the directors ensure that applicable principles are implemented and a high level of compliance is maintained.					
7	The board should comprise the appropriate balance of knowledge, skills, experience, diversity, and independence for it to discharge its governance role and responsibilities objectively and effectively.	Yes	The non-executive directors are such that there is a clear division of responsibility to ensure a balance of power, such that no one individual or Company can dominate board processes or have unfettered powers of decision-making. The board consists of four (4) Non-Executive Directors, with one non independent. The Chair is responsible for setting the Board agenda, ensuring that there is sufficient time available for discussion of all items, that information received is accurate, timely and clear to enable directors					

King IV Report (continued) for the year ended 31 March 2020

King IV Principle	Description	Applied by Company (Yes/No)	Compliance Status				
	Strategy, Performance and Reporting						
8	The board should ensure that its arrangements for delegation within its own structures promote independent judgement, and assist with balance of power and the effective discharge of its duties.	Yes	The board committees assist in executing its duties, powers and authorities. The required authority is delegated by the board to each committee to enable it to fulfil its respective functions through formally approved terms of reference. Delegating authority to board committees or management, other than the specific matters for which the audit committee carries ultimate accountability in terms of the Companies Act, does not mitigate or discharge the board and its directors of their duties and responsibilities and the board fully acknowledges this fact. Formal terms of reference have been adopted by each committee and are reviewed on an annual basis. Committee chairpersons report back to the board at each board meeting.				
9	The board should ensure that the evaluation of its own performance and that of its committees, its chair and its individual members, support continued improvement in its performance and effectiveness.	Yes	The Board continues to be committed to regularly evaluating its own effectiveness and that of its committees. In this light, the Board undertakes an annual evaluation of its performance and that of its committees and individual directors.				
10	The board should ensure that the appointment of, and delegation to, management contribute to role clarity and the effective exercise of authority and responsibilities.	Yes	The Company Secretaries are professionally qualified and have experience gained over a number of years. Their services are evaluated by Board members during the annual Board evaluation process. They are responsible for the flow of information to the Board and its committees and for ensuring compliance with Board procedures.				
11	The board should govern risk in a way that supports the organisation in setting and achieving its strategic objectives.	Yes	The Board ensures appropriate resources to manage risk by having independent Risk Management, Compliance and Financial Control functions. The Internal Audit function does not directly report to the Audit Committee, but highlights any matters relevant to the Company's annual financial statements via the Servicer and the Administrator to the Audit Committee.				

King IV Report (continued) for the year ended 31 March 2020

King IV Principle	Description	Applied by Company (Yes/No)	Compliance Status
	Strategy, P	erformance and	I Reporting
12	The board should govern technology and information in a way that supports the organisation setting and achieving its strategic objectives.	Yes	The board has delegated the responsibility for IT governance, the establishment of an appropriate IT policy, framework and strategy to management.
			Multiple layers of assurance exist to oversee, independently assess and provide assurance over management activities. These include Internal Audit, External Audit and specialized consultants, all of which provide feedback to the Board.
13	The board should govern compliance with applicable laws and adopted, non-binding rules, codes and standards in a way that supports the organisation being ethical and a good corporate citizen.	Yes	The board receives legislative and compliance updates from time to time and is responsible for ensuring that the Company complies with applicable laws, considers adhering to non-binding rules, codes and standards.
			The compliance officer monitors compliance with applicable laws and also considers non-binding codes, rules and standards, assesses the impact and recommends a suitable course of action to the board. The directors take responsibility for deciding whether to follow the recommendations of the compliance officer.
			The Company received no fines or penalties for non-compliance during 2019/20 financial year.
14	The board should ensure that the organisation remunerates fairly, responsibly and transparently so as to promote the achievement of strategic objectives and positive outcomes in the short, medium and long term.	N/A	The Company has no employees.
15	The board should ensure that assurance services and functions enable an effective control environment, and that these support the integrity of information for internal decision-making and of the organisation's external reports.	Yes	The Annual Financial Statements are compiled by an internal team, approved by management with oversight from the Audit Committee and finally approved by the board prior to publication and circulation.
		Stakeholders	
16	In the execution of its governance role and responsibilities, the board should adopt a stakeholder-inclusive approach that balances the needs, interests and expectations of material stakeholders in the best interests of the organisation over time.	Yes	The Company has identified its stakeholders and management from various functions are assigned to manage relationships with stakeholders. The board realises that there is a broad range of stakeholders who have a genuine stake in or are affected by the Company and its various activities.
	Responsibilit	ties of Institutio	nal Investors
17	The board of an institutional investor organisation should ensure that responsible investment is practiced by the organisation to promote the good governance and the creation of value by the companies in which it invests.	N/A	The company is not an institutional investor.



KPMG Inc KPMG Crescent 85 Empire Road, Parktown, 2193, Private Bag 9, Parkview, 2122, South Africa Telephone +27 (0)11 647 7111

Fax +27 (0)11 647 8000 Docex 472 Johannesburg Web http://www.kpmg.co.za

Independent Auditor's Report

To the shareholder of Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited

Report on the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited (the company) set out on pages 18 to 43, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited as at 31 March 2020, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements* section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors' *Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised January 2018)*, parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors' *Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018)* (together the IRBA Codes) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' *Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants* and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' *International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards)* respectively. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.



Impact of COVID-19

Key audit matter

Refer to accounting policies notes 1.4 and 1.7; and notes 18, 20 and 22 to the financial statements.

The COVID-19 pandemic is of an unprecedented scale and has severely impacted the global economy and businesses across all industries. There is a significant degree of uncertainty about the further spread of the virus and the state of the world economy. As a result of the pandemic there are significant judgements and assumptions that impact financial reporting that are required to be considered within the financial statements.

The areas of our audit most impacted by COVID-19 included:

Significant judgement related to fair value of financial instruments

Level 2 instruments

Valuation models that employ significant unobservable inputs require a higher degree of management judgement and estimation in the determination of fair value. Management judgement and estimation are usually required for the selection of the appropriate valuation model to be used, determination of expected future cash flows on the financial instrument being valued, determination of the probability of default, determination of expected volatilities and correlations and selection of appropriate discount rates.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit response to these areas is detailed below:

Significant judgement related to fair value

Level 2 instruments

With the assistance of our valuation specialists, we performed a detailed examination of management's valuation methodologies and assessed the appropriateness and consistency of inputs, key assumptions and contractual obligations.



Impact of COVID-19

Refer to accounting policies notes 1.4 and 1.7; and notes 18, 20 and 22 to the financial statements.

losses

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Significant judgements related to expected credit losses

The appropriateness of the allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) requires significant judgment and assumptions by management.

ECL is determined using sophisticated modelling techniques, which consider both historical data and forward-looking information. The models used to determine credit impairments are complex, and certain inputs used are not fully observable.

Credit risk is defined in terms of Investec Bank Limited's (Investec) credit policies and procedures manual. Investec management addressed the COVID-19 impact on the Private Bank portfolio (Fox Street 6 is managed as part of this portfolio) as follows:

- The ECL as at March 2020 was calculated using revised macroeconomic variable forecasts and scenario weightings (dated 13 April 2020).
- Additional staging rule to assess impacted accounts which require COVID-19 relief measures (i.e. payment holidays, restructured credit exposures and loan modifications) where the impact is not considered temporary - and migrate them to Stage 2.

We performed the following procedures, in conjunction with our credit risk specialists:

Significant judgements related to expected credit

- We reviewed the macroeconomic information and scenario framework applied by management.
- We reperformed the application of the new macroeconomic variable forecasts and scenario weightings on the IFRS 9 PD and LGD models.
- We recalculated both the baseline ECL (based on March 2020 exposures) and the ECL based on revised macroeconomic information.



Impact of COVID-19

Refer to accounting policies notes 1.4 and 1.7; and notes 18, 20 and 22 to the financial statements.

Key audit matter Events after the balance sheet date

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Events after the balance sheet date

The COVID-19 coronavirus outbreak has caused a significant deterioration in economic conditions worldwide. Management has concluded that there are no material uncertainties regarding the ability of Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited to operate as a going concern because the company has been set up as an insolvency remote special purpose vehicle. Secured creditors have agreed to certain subordination, non-petition and enforcement clauses.

We have reviewed all available and relevant management information, key meeting minutes and held discussions with management.

We evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of the financial statement disclosures as they pertain to events after the balance sheet date in relation to the impact of COVID-19.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the document titled "Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020", which includes the Directors' report, the Audit Committee Report and the Declaration by the Company Secretary as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The other information does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going



concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- b) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.



We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that KPMG Inc. has been the auditor of Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited for 2 years.

KPMG Inc

Per TA Middlemiss Chartered Accountant (SA) Registered Auditor Director

28 July 2020

Statement of Financial Position

as at 31 March 2020

	Notes	2020	2019	
Assets		R	R	
Deferred tax asset	5	580,016	170,508	
Taxation receivable		49,988	-	
Intercompany receivable	2	1,049,759,597	1,207,813,810	
Derivative financial instruments	4	-	4,825,265	
Trade and other receivables		1,028,473	709,244	
Cash and cash equivalents	3	93,329,801	106,620,342	
Total assets	_	1,144,747,875	1,320,139,169	
Equity and liabilities				
Equity		9,630,828	8,982,397	
Share capital	6	101	101	
Retained earnings		10,348,640	4,157,030	
Cash flow hedge reserve		(717,914)	4,825,265	
Preference share capital	6	1	1	
Liabilities		1,135,117,047	1,311,156,772	
Subordinated loan	8	20,039,716	20,039,716	
Residential mortgaged backed securities	7	1,102,893,747	1,277,060,372	
Derivative financial instruments	4	997,103	-	
Deferred income		219,794	75,762	
Accrued interest payable	9	10,167,899	13,155,586	
Taxation payable		-	148,704	
Trade and other payables	10	798,788	676,632	
Total equity and liabilities	_	1,144,747,875	1,320,139,169	

Statement of Comprehensive Income

joi the year ended 31 March 2020	Notes	2020 R	2019 R
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method	11	112,755,214	80,271,745
Interest expense Net interest income	12	(101,152,387) 11,602,827	(72,183,571) 8,088,174
The interest mediae		11,002,027	0,000,174
Other income	_	177,396	72,805
Total operating income before expected credit losses/			
impairment losses		11,780,223	8,160,979
Expected credit loss impairment charge	2	(1,011,281)	(734,900)
Other operating expenses	13	(2,169,484)	(1,652,427)
Profit before taxation		8,599,458	5,773,652
Taxation	14 _	(2,407,848)	(1,616,622)
Profit for the year	_	6,191,610	4,157,030
Other comprehensive income Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit of	w logg		
Cash flow hedges- changes in fair value	01 1088 4	(5,087,427)	4,637,296
Cash flow hedges- reclassified to profit or loss	11	(455,752)	187,969
		(5,543,179)	4,825,265
Total comprehensive income for the year	- -	648,431	8,982,295

Statement of Changes in Equity

	Note	Ordinary share capital	Preference share capital Retained earnings		Cash flow hedge reserve	Total	
		R	R	R	R	R	
Balance at 31 March 2018 Total comprehensive income for the period		101	1	-	-	102	
- Profit for the year		_	_	4,157,030	_	4,157,030	
- Change in fair value of financial instrument	4	_	_	-	4,637,296	4,637,296	
- Cash flow hedges- reclassified to profit or loss		-	-	-	187,969	187,969	
Balance at 31 March 2019		101	1	4,157,030	4,825,265	8,982,397	
Total comprehensive income for the period							
- Profit for the year		-	-	6,191,610	-	6 191 610	
- Change in fair value of financial instrument	4	-	-	-	(5,087,427)	(5 087 427)	
- Cash flow hedges- reclassified to profit or loss	11	-	-	-	(455,752)	(455 752)	
Balance at 31 March 2020		101	1	10,348,640	(717,914)	9,630,828	

Statement of Cash Flows

	Notes	2020	2019
Cash flows from operating activities		R	R
Profit before taxation		8,599,458	5,773,652
Adjusted for:			
Taxation paid		(2,736,859)	(1,638,426)
Expected credit loss charge		1,011,281	734,900
Changes in working capital:			
(Increase) in trade and other receivables		(319,229)	(709,244)
(Decrease)/Increase in accrued interest payable		(2,987,687)	13,155,586
Increase in deferred income		144,032	75,762
Increase in trade and other payables		122,156	676,632
Net cash inflow from operating activities		3,833,152	18,068,862
Cash flows from investing activities			
Mortgage loans acquired		-	(1,208,548,710)
Repayment of mortgage loans		157,042,932	<u> </u>
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities	_	157,042,932	(1,208,548,710)
Cash flows from financing activities			
Purchase of residential mortgages backed securities	7	-	1,335,000,000
Capital redemption of residential mortgage backed securities	7	(174,166,625)	(57,939,628)
Subordinated loan acquired	8	<u>-</u>	20,039,716
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities		(174,166,625)	1,297,100,088
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents for the period		(13,290,541)	106,620,240
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year / period		106,620,342	102
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period	3	93,329,801	106,620,342

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020

1. Significant accounting policies

1.1 Reporting entity

Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited (the 'Company') is domiciled in South Africa. The Company's registered office is at 100 Grayston Drive, Sandown, Sandton, 2196. These financial statements comprise the Company's annual financial statement. The Company is primarily involved in the acquiring the right, title and interest in and to residential home loan assets with funds raised directly or indirectly by issue of debt instruments, and to manage the assets so acquired.

1.2 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Standards Council and the Companies Act No.71 of 2008, as amended, and incorporate the following principle accounting policies set out below:

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the going concern principle under the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of financial instruments and instruments held at fair value. The financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the Company's functional currency.

1.3 Use of estimates and judgement

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and the classification of financial instruments. Actual results may differ from these estimates

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Key areas in which judgement is applied include:

In accordance with IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, the company categorises financial instruments carried on the balance sheet at fair value using a three level hierarchy. Financial instruments categorised as level 1 are valued using quoted market prices and therefore there is minimal judgement applied in determining fair value. However, the fair value of financial instruments categorised as level 2 and, in particular, level 3 is determined using valuation techniques including discounted cash flow analysis and valuation models. The valuation techniques for level 3 financial instruments involve management judgement and estimates the extent of which depends on the complexity of the instrument and the availability of market observable information. Further information in relation to this can be found in Note 20.

The determination of ECL against assets that are carried at amortised cost and ECL relating to debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) involves a high degree of uncertainty as it involves using assumptions that are highly subjective and sensitive to risk factors. The most significant judgments relate to defining what is considered to be a significant increase in credit risk; determining the probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD) and future cash flows; incorporating information about forecast economic conditions and the weightings to be applied to economic scenarios. More detail relating to the methodology and results of the company's assessment of ECLs can be found in note 1.4.

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.4 Financial Instruments

1.4.1 Business model

For financial assets, IFRS 9 requires that a business model assessment is carried out which reflects how the company manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. The assessment is at a portfolio level, being the level at which the portfolio is managed. Factors considered by the company in determining the business model for a group of assets include past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the assets' performance is evaluated and reported and how risks are assessed and managed. The company has assessed its business model at the various portfolio levels, to be to collect and sell and to hold to collect and has accordingly accounted for the financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and at amortised cost respectively.

The standard sets out three types of business models:

- Hold to collect: it is intended to hold the asset to maturity to earn interest; collecting repayments of principal and interest from the customer. These assets are accounted for at amortised cost.
- Hold to collect and sell: this model is similar to the hold to collect model, except that the entity may elect to sell some or all of the assets before maturity as circumstances change. These assets are accounted for at FVOCI.
- Hold to sell/managed on a fair value basis: the entity originates or purchases an asset with the intention of disposing of it in the short- or medium-term to benefit from capital appreciation or the portfolio is managed on a fair value basis. These assets are accounted for at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

Solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and sell, the company assesses whether the assets' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the 'SPPI test'). In making this assessment, the company considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement (i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement). Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related asset is classified and measured at FVPL. Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

1.4.2 Amortised cost measurement

Financial assets that are held to collect the contractual cash flows and that contain contractual terms that give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest, such as most loans and advances to customers and some debt securities, are measured at amortised cost. In addition, most financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.4 Financial Instruments

1.4.2 Amortised cost measurement (continued)

The Company may commit to provide a loan which has not yet been drawn. When the loan that arises from the lending commitment is expected to meet the criteria to be measured at amortised cost the undrawn commitment is also considered to be and is included in the impairment calculation.

The carrying value of these financial assets at initial recognition includes any directly attributable transaction costs.

Financial assets where 12-month ECL is recognised are considered to be 'stage 1', financial assets which are considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk are in 'stage 2', and financial assets for which there is objective evidence of impairment are considered to be in default or otherwise credit impaired are in 'stage 3'.

The Company calculates the effective interest rate on stage 3 assets which is calculated based on the amortised cost of the financial assets (i.e. gross carrying amount less ECL) instead of gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of ECLs in estimated future cash flows.

1.4.3 Identification and measurement of impairment

At each balance sheet date each financial asset or portfolio of advances categorised at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, issued financial guarantee and loan commitment is measured for ECL impairment. Loss allowances are forward-looking, based on 12-month expected credit losses where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk rating, otherwise allowances are based on lifetime expected credit losses.

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. The probability is determined by the risk of default which is applied to the cash flow estimates. On a significant increase in credit risk, credit losses are rebased from 12-month to lifetime expectations. A change in credit risk, is typically but not necessarily, associated with a change in the expected cash flows.

The costs of loss allowances on assets held at amortised cost are presented as impairments in the income statement. Allowances in respect of financial guarantees and loan commitments are presented as other liabilities and charges recorded within income statement impairments. Financial assets held at amortised cost are presented net of allowances except where the asset has been wholly or partially written off.

The Company considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at both a specific and a collective level. Loans and receivables are first assessed for specific impairment. Those found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified.

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.4.3 Identification and measurement of impairment (continued)

In assessing collective impairment, the Company uses statistical modelling of historical trends of the probability of default, the timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, and makes an adjustment if current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or lesser than is suggested by historical trends. Default rates, loss rates and the expected timing of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate.

Impairment losses on assets measured at amortised cost are calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss and any subsequent decrease in the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

The determination of ECL against assets that are carried at amortised cost and ECL relating to debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) involves a high degree of uncertainty as it involves using assumptions that are highly subjective and sensitive to risk factors. The most significant judgments relate to defining what is considered to be a significant increase in credit risk; determining the probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD) and future cash flows; incorporating information about forecast economic conditions and the weightings to be applied to economic scenarios.

1.4.4 Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

A financial asset, or a portion thereof, is derecognised when the company's rights to cash flows have expired or when the company has transferred its rights to cash flows relating to the financial assets and either (a) the company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards associated with the financial assets, or (b) the company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards associated with the financial assets but has transferred control of the assets

The treatment of a renegotiation or modification of the contractual cash flows of a financial asset depends upon whether the modification is done for commercial reasons, in which case if they are significant the old asset is derecognised and a new asset recognised, or because of financial difficulties of the borrower.

A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, i.e. When the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced or modified with substantially different terms, such a replacement or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.5 Hedge accounting

The Company has elected to use the IAS 39 rules and applies cash flow hedge accounting when the transactions meet the specified hedge accounting criteria. To qualify for hedge accounting treatment, the company ensures that all of the following conditions are met:

- At inception of the hedge, the company formally documents the relationship between the hedging instrument(s) and hedged item(s) including the risk management objectives and the strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction. Also, at the inception of the hedged relationship, a formal assessment is undertaken to ensure that the hedging instrument is expected to be highly effective in offsetting the designated risk in the hedged item. A hedge is expected to be highly effective if the changes in cash flows attributable to the hedged risk during the period for which the hedge is designated are expected to offset in a range of 80% to 125%.
- For cash flow hedges, a forecast transaction that is the subject of the hedge must be highly probable and must present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect profit or loss.
- The effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured, i.e. the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk and the fair value of the hedging instrument can be reliably measured.
- The hedge effectiveness is assessed on an ongoing basis and determined actually to have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting period for which the hedge was designated.

For qualifying cash flow hedges in respect of financial assets and liabilities, the change in fair value of the hedging instrument, which represents an effective hedge, is initially recognised in other comprehensive income in the cash flow hedge reserve and is released to profit or loss in the same period during which the relevant financial asset or liability affects profit or loss. Any ineffective portion of the hedge is immediately recognised in profit or loss

Hedge accounting is discontinued when it is determined that the instrument ceases to be highly effective as a hedge; when the derivative expires, or is sold, terminated or exercised; when the hedged item matures or is sold or repaid; when a forecast transaction is no longer deemed highly probable or when the designation as a hedge is revoked.

1.6 Non-derivative financial liabilities

All financial liabilities, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are classified as non-trading financial liabilities. Non-trading financial liabilities, which include residential mortgage backed securities, subordinated loan, accrued interest and trade and other payables, are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.7 Fair value measurement - IFRS 13

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, defines fair value as being a market-based measurement and sets out in a single IFRS a framework for the measurement of fair value.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Company has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

Fair value measurements for financial assets and financial liabilities are categorised into different levels in the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs to the valuation technique used. The different levels are identified as follows:

Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

1.8 Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset when there is both an intention to settle on a net basis (or simultaneously) and a currently enforceable legal right to offset exists. Where offsetting has been applied or the entity has instruments that are subject to offsetting, the following disclosures should be provided:

- (a) the gross amounts of those recognised financial assets and recognised financial liabilities;
- (b) the amounts that are set off in accordance with the criteria of IAS 32 when determining the net amounts presented in the statement of financial position;
- (c) the net amounts presented in the statement of financial position;
- (d) the amounts subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement that are not otherwise included in, including:
- (i) amounts related to recognised financial instruments that do not meet some or all of the offsetting criteria of IAS 32; and
- (ii) amounts related to financial collateral (including cash collateral); and
- (e) the net amount after deducting the amounts in (d) from the amounts in (c) above.

1.9 Revenue

Revenue consists of interest income and other fee income earned from providing financial services.

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised in accordance with five steps to: identify the contract; identify the performance obligations; determine the transaction price; allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations; and recognise revenue when the performance obligations are satisfied.

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.9 Revenue (continued)

The effective interest rate method is based on the estimated life of the underlying instrument and where this estimate is not readily available, the contractual life. Interest on instruments at FVPL is recognised based on the contractual rates.

Interest income

Interest income from loans and receivables is recognised on a time proportion basis, which takes into account the effective yield on the asset.

Other fee income

Fee income is recognised on the accrual basis when the service is rendered.

1.10 Taxation

Taxation expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the asset can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities against current tax assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

1.11 Intercompany receivables

Intercompany receivables consists of residential mortgage advances and loans and advances that are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and that the Company does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term.

Loans and advances are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, petty cash and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position, which approximates fair value.

1.13 Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

IFRS 17 (Insurance contracts) is a standard and interpretation which has been issued but is not yet effective and is not expected to have a material impact on the Company. IFRS 17 will become effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020

2. Intercompany receivables

During the prefunding period of 08 August 2018 to 01 November 2018, Investec Bank Limited (IBL) sold a portion of its residential mortgage assets to Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited (Fox Street 6). However, since IBL is also the provider of the subordinated loan, the substance of the transaction was that the accounting derecognition criteria to transfer the significant risks and rewards of ownership were not met. Thus an intercompany receivable is recognised for the consideration paid for these assets to IBL. The cash flows arising from these assets are directly attributable to the residential mortgages and thus the following disclosure is appropriate and useful to the users of these financial statements as the carrying amount of the receivable will fluctuate in line with the residential mortgage balances.

	2020 R	2019 R
Loans and receivables ceded to Fox Street 6		Α.
Gross amount outstanding	1,051,505,778	1,208,548,710
Expected credit loss	(1,746,181)	(734,900)
	1,049,759,597	1,207,813,810
Expected credit losses		
Expected credit loss	(1,746,181)	(734,900)
	(1,746,181)	(734,900)
Maturity analysis		
One month to three months	36,916,899	39,109,966
Three months to six months	35,620,799	37,844,324
Six months to one year	67,533,714	72,054,229
One year to five years	396,940,330	433,603,312
Greater than five years	514,494,036	625,936,879
	1,051,505,778	1,208,548,710
Reconciliation of expected credit loss		_
Opening balance	734,900	-
Charged to the statement of comprehensive income	1,011,281	734,900
	1,746,181	734,900
Cash and cash equivalents		
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:		
Current account - Investec Bank Limited	93,329,699	106,620,240
Petty cash	102	102
	93,329,801	106,620,342

4. Derivative financial instruments

Interest on the current account is earned at the 3 month JIBAR rate which is reset every quarter.

Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited has entered into a JIBAR for prime swap with IBL to mitigate the interest rate risk resulting from the mismatch of interest rates on the prime rate linked loans and advances and the JIBAR linked notes payable. The notional value of the interest rate swap (i.e. fully performing loans) is R 1 051 505 778 (2019: R 1 243 527 365) as at the latest reset date prior to year end. The swap is effective in the current year. The fair value of derivatives can change significantly from year to year due to changes in economic conditions. Both the Prime and JIBAR rates have moved in the current year. This change in rates and consequently the change in the interest rate outlook (i.e. change in the prime curve and interbank JIBAR curve) combined with the long dated stream of cash flows that are present valued has resulted in a significant move in the fair value of the derivative.

Statement of financial position

Derivative Financial Instrument	(997,103)	4,825,265
Statement of comprehensive income		
Cash flow hedges- effective portion of changes in fair value	(5,087,427)	4,637,296
Cash flow hedges- reclassified to profit or loss	(455,752)	187,969
Other comprehensive income	(5,543,179)	4,825,265

Cash flow hedges

The company is exposed to variability in cash flows on future liabilities arising from changes in base interest rates. The aggregate expected cash flows are hedged based on cash flow forecasts with reference to terms and conditions present in the affected contractual arrangements. Changes in fair value are initially recognised in other comprehensive income and reclassified to the income statement when the cash flow affects the income statement.

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

4. Derivative financial instruments (continued)

At 31 March R	Description of financial instrument being hedged	Fair value of hedging instrument	Period cash flows are expected to occur and affect income statement
2020			
Interest rate swap	Intercompany receivable	(997 103)	Three months
2019			
	Intercompany		
Interest rate swap	receivable	4 825 265	Three months

There are cash flow hedges during the year to mitigate interest rate risk. A reconciliation of the cash flow hedge reserve can be found in the statement of changes in equity. There was no ineffective portion recognised in the income statement.

Realisations to the income statement for cash flow hedges of (R0.455 million) (2019: R0.187 million) are included in net interest income.

		2020	2019
5.	Deferred tax asset	R	R
	The deferred tax balance comprises of:		
	Expected credit loss	239,285	149,295
	Deferred income	61,542	21,213
	Derivative Financial Instruments	279,189	
	Deferred tax asset	580,016	170,508
	Reconciliation of deferred tax balance		
	Opening balance	170,508	-
	Recognised in profit or loss		
	Expected credit loss	89,990	149,295
	Deferred income	40,329	21,213
	Recognised in OCI		
	Derivative Financial Instruments	279,189	
	Closing balance	580,016	170,508

Deferred taxes were not correctly accounted for in relation to derivative financial instruments in the prior year. Management has corrected the error prospectively and the impact of the error is not material to the financial statements and therefore no additional disclosure related to this correction of error is required.

6. Share capital

Ordinary share capital

1	uth	01	ic	ad
$\boldsymbol{\Lambda}$	uiri	o_{I}	us	ĽИ

1 000 ordinary shares at R1 each	1 000	1 000
Issued 100 ordinary share at R1	101	101
All of the issued shares are held by Fox Street 6 Owner Trust and are fully paid up.		
Preference share capital		
Authorised 100 cumulative redeemable preference shares (no par value)		
Issued		
1 preference share at no par value	1	1
The unissued shares are under the control of the Directors until the next annual general meeting and are fully paid up.		
	102	102

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

7. Residential mortgage backed securities

	Class A Notes	Class B Notes	Class C Notes	Class D Notes	Class E Notes	Total
	R	R	R	R	R	R
2020 Balance at the beginning of the period Redemption of notes Balance of notes outstanding at end of the year	942,060,372 (174,166,625) 767,893,747	150,000,000 - 150,000,000	50,000,000 - 50,000,000	35,000,000 - 35,000,000	100,000,000	1,277,060,372 (174,166,625) 1,102,893,747
2019 Balance at the beginning of the period Notes issued to investors Redemption of notes Balance of notes outstanding at end of the year	1,000,000,000	150,000,000	50,000,000	35,000,000	100,000,000	1,335,000,000
	(57,939,628)	-	-	-	-	(57,939,628)
	942,060,372	150,000,000	50,000,000	35,000,000	100,000,000	1,277,060,372

The residential mortgage backed securities are measured at amortised cost. The notes bear interest at the 3 Month JIBAR rate plus the spread as determined in the Applicable Pricing Supplement for each class and tranche of notes. For as long as the notes are in issue, interest on the floating rate notes is payable quarterly in arrears on the 20th of February, May, August and November. The interest rate, charge and accrued balance per tranche of notes was as follows:

	Spread over 3		
2020	Month Jibar	Interest expense	Accrued interest
		R	R
Class A1	69 bps	4,771,517	-
Class A2	105 bps	31,681,767	3,140,704
Class A3	124 bps	32,717,940	3,500,164
Class B1	138 bps	12,588,532	1,444,880
Class C1	185 bps	4,395,578	471,781
Class D1	225 bps	3,217,288	345,973
Class E1	280 bps	9,743,759	1,050,274
		99,116,381	9,953,776
	Spread over 3		
2019	Month Jibar	Interest expense	Accrued interest
		R	R
Class A1	69 bps	10,012,858	1,562,980
Class A2	105 bps	20,882,191	3,594,521
Class A3	124 bps	21,373,589	3,677,808
Class B1	138 bps	7,278,818	1,059,764
Class C1	185 bps	2,868,904	493,151
Class D1	225 bps	2,098,753	360,548
Class E1	280 bps	6,352,055	1,090,411
		70,867,168	11,839,183
		2020	2010
		2020 R	2019 R
Subordinated Loan		20,039,716	20,039,716

Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited entered into an agreement with Investec Balance Sheet Funding (IBSF), whereby IBSF would provide the subordinated loan to the residential mortgage backed security notes issues.

The principal amount of R20 039 716 subordinated loan was advanced by IBSF on 08 August 2018. Interest payable on the subordinated loan is payable on quarterly payment dates in accordance with the Priority of Payments.

9. Accrued interest payable

8.

Subordinated loan	214 123	1,316,403
Residential mortgage backed securities	9 953 776	11,839,183
	10,167,899	13,155,586

Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

Tradic and other psysbles 888 23			2020 R	2019 R
Accorded expenses 808 223 674,315 72,317 72,317 73,318 74,315 73,318 74,315 73,318 74,315 73,318 74,315 73,318 74,315 74,318	10.	Trade and other payables		T.
Interest income			808 223	674,315
Numarian Numarian		VAT liability		
Morgage advances 104,066,700 73,358,972 Current account Answesce Bank Limited 8,222,62 7,100,742 Realised interest on swap 112,755,214 80,271,745 11. Interest expense Residential morgage backed securities - Class R 69,171,224 \$2,268,638 - Class B 12,588,532 7,278,818 - Class C 4,395,578 2,868,704 - Class D 3,217,288 2,988,704 - Class D 2,078,006 13,216,00 - Class D 2,078,006 13,61,00 - Class E 9,743,509 632,00 - Class E 9,743,509 632,00 - Class E 9,743,509 62,211 - Class E 9,800,00 682,411 - Administration fee 5,75,00 36,603 - Auditor's Fee 986,800 62,211 - Auditor's Fee <td></td> <td></td> <td>798,788</td> <td>676,632</td>			798,788	676,632
Current account - Investee Bank Linited	11.	Interest income		
Realised interest on swap 455.752 (187.969) 1. Interest expense Residential mortgage backed securities - Class A 69,171,224 52,268,638 - Class A 69,171,224 52,268,638 - Class C 4,395,578 2,868,904 - Class D 3,127,238 2,098,753 - Class L 9,435,795 6,352,005 - Class L 9,435,790 6,352,005 - Class L 9,680,000 62,411 - Class L 9,680,000 62,411 - Administration fee 9,680,000 62,411 - Current 2,538,168 1,787,130 - Current <		Mortgage advances	104,066,700	73,358,972
112,755,214 80,271,745 Residential mortgage backed securities Class A 60,171,224 52,268,638 Class B 12,585,532 7,278,818 Class D 4,905,578 2,968,504 Class D 3,217,288 20,987,53 Class D 3,217,288 20,987,53 Class D 2,036,0006 1,316,403 Class D 2,036,000 1,316,403 Class D 2,038,000 1,316,403 Class D 2,038,0		Current account - Investec Bank Limited	8,232,762	7,100,742
Residential mortgage backed securities Class A 69,171,224 52,268,638 62,258,532 7,278,818 62,258,532 7,278,818 62,258,532 7,278,818 62,258,532 7,278,818 62,258,532 62,268,598,904 62,258,513 62,268,598,904 62,258,513		Realised interest on swap		
Residential mortgage backed securities			112,755,214	80,271,745
Class A	12.	Interest expense		
Class B				
Class C				
Class D				
- Class E Subordinated loan 9,743,759 (2,350,505) (2,316,405)				
Subordinated loan 2,036,006 1,316,037 1,218,357 1 13. Other operating expenses Other operating expenses include the following: Servicing fee 986,800 682,411 6467 675,00 36,863 316,467 676,00 420,33 316,467 676,00 420,33 316,467 676,00 420,33 316,467 676,00 420,33 316,467 676,00 420,33 316,467 676,00 420,30 420,34 31,40 62,20 7 14. Taxation South African normal tax -current -current -current -current -2,538,168 1,787,130 4,00 4,00 4,00 4,00 4,00 4,00 4,00 4,				
10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10				
13. Other operating expenses include the following: Servicing fee		Subordinated loan		
Servicing fee 986,800 682,41 Administration fee 57,500 36,863 Auditor's fee 492,033 316,467 Sundry expenses 633,151 616,686 Taxation 2,169,484 1,652,427 14. Taxation South African normal tax -current 2,538,168 1,787,130 -deferred tax (130,320) (170,508) Net taxation charge 2,407,848 1,616,622 Reconciliation of effective tax rate 2020 % R Income before taxation 8 599 458 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 2,407,848 Total income tax expense 28.0% 2,407,848 2019 % R Income before taxation 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 2,407,848 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623	13.	Other operating expenses		, ,
Administration fee 57,500 36,863 Auditor's fee 492,033 316,467 Sundry expenses 633,151 616,686 2,169,484 1,652,427 14. Taxation South African normal tax -current 2,538,168 1,787,130 -deferred tax (130,320) (170,508) Net taxation charge 2,407,848 1,616,622 Reconciliation of effective tax rate 2020 % R Income before taxation 8 599 458 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 2,407,848 Total income tax expense 28.0% 2,407,848 2019 % R Income before taxation 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623				
Administration fee 57,500 36,863 Auditor's fee 492,033 316,467 Sundry expenses 633,151 616,686 2,169,484 1,652,427 14. Taxation South African normal tax -current 2,538,168 1,787,130 -deferred tax (130,320) (170,508) Net taxation charge 2,407,848 1,616,622 Reconciliation of effective tax rate 2020 % R Income before taxation 8 599 458 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 2,407,848 Total income tax expense 28.0% 2,407,848 2019 % R Income before taxation 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623		Complete Company of the Company of t	004 000	602 411
Auditor's fee Sundry expenses 492,033 633,151 316,467 616,686 Fee Sundry expenses 492,033 633,151 316,467 616,686 Land ton 2,169,484 1,652,427 14. Taxation South African normal tax -current 2,538,168 (130,320) 1,787,130 (170,508) Reconciliation charge 2,407,848 1,616,622 Reconciliation of effective tax rate 2020 % R Income before taxation 8 599 458 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 2,407,848 2019 % R Income before taxation % R Income before taxation 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 2,407,848 Tax using the corporation tax rate % R Income before taxation 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623			•	*
Sundry expenses 633,151 (2,427) 616,686 (2,109,484) 616,686 (2,109,484) 1,652,427 14. Taxation South African normal tax -current 2,538,168 (1,787,130) 1,787,130 (170,508) -current 2,538,168 (130,320) 1,787,130 (170,508) Reconciliation of effective tax rate Reconciliation of effective tax rate 7 R			,	
14. Taxation				
South African normal tax 2,538,168 1,787,130 -deferred tax (130,320) (170,508) Net taxation charge 2,407,848 1,616,622 Reconciliation of effective tax rate 2020 % R Income before taxation 8 599 458 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 2,407,848 Total income tax expense 28.0% 2,407,848 2019 % R Income before taxation 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623		Sundry expenses		
-current 2,538,168 1,787,130 -deferred tax (130,320) (170,508) Net taxation charge 2,407,848 1,616,622 Reconciliation of effective tax rate 2020 % R Income before taxation 8 599 458 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 2,407,848 Total income tax expense 28.0% 2,407,848 2019 % R Income before taxation 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623	14.	Taxation		
deferred tax (130,320) (170,508) Net taxation charge 2,407,848 1,616,622 Reconciliation of effective tax rate 8 1,616,622 2020 % R Income before taxation 8 599 458 2,407,848 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 2,407,848 2019 % R Income before taxation 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623		South African normal tax		
Net taxation charge 2,407,848 1,616,622 Reconciliation of effective tax rate 2020 % R Income before taxation 8 599 458 8 599 458 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 2,407,848 Total income tax expense 28.0% 2,407,848 2019 % R Income before taxation 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623		-current	2,538,168	1,787,130
Reconciliation of effective tax rate 2020 % R Income before taxation 8 599 458 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 2,407,848 Total income tax expense 28.0% 2,407,848 2019 % R Income before taxation 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623		-deferred tax	(130,320)	(170,508)
2020 % R Income before taxation 8 599 458 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 2,407,848 Total income tax expense 28.0% 2,407,848 2019 % R Income before taxation 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623		Net taxation charge	2,407,848	1,616,622
Income before taxation % R Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 2,407,848 Total income tax expense 28.0% 2,407,848 2019 % R Income before taxation 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623		Reconciliation of effective tax rate		
Income before taxation 8 599 458 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 2,407,848 Total income tax expense 28.0% 2,407,848 2019 % R Income before taxation 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623		2020	0/0	R
Total income tax expense 28.0% 2,407,848 2019 % R Income before taxation 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623		Income before taxation	,,	
2019 % R Income before taxation 5,773,652 Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623		Tax using the corporation tax rate	28.0%	2,407,848
Income before taxation Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623		Total income tax expense	28.0%	2,407,848
Income before taxation Tax using the corporation tax rate 28.0% 1,616,623		2019	87	n
		Income before taxation	%	
Total income tax expense 28.0% 1,616,623		Tax using the corporation tax rate	28.0%	1,616,623
		Total income tax expense	28.0%	1,616,623

Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

15. Servicing and administration fees - Investec Bank Limited

Investec Bank Limited has been appointed under the terms of a servicing agreement and an administration agreement as servicer and administrator respectively for Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited.

Investec Bank Limited charges fees for its services under the servicing agreement to the extent permitted by and in accordance with the Priority of Payments. Such fees are charged at 0.075% (exclusive of VAT) of the outstanding principal balance of the assets as at each monthly determination date.

Investec Bank Limited charges fees for it's administrative services under the administration agreement to the extent permitted by and in accordance with the Priority of Payments. The administration fee is charged at R50 000 (exclusive of VAT) per annum.

In the event that insufficient cash is available for payment for all or part of any servicer or administration fee, Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited incurs no obligation to pay that portion of the fee in respect of which no cash is available.

16. Contingencies and commitments

Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited has indemnified Fox Street 6 Security SPV (Security SPV)(RF) Proprietary Limited in respect of any claims made against the Security SPV arising out of a guarantee provided by the Security SPV to the secured creditors of Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited.

Cession and pledge

Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited has ceded and pledged its right, title and interest in and to the residential home loan assets held to the Security SPV as security for the guarantee provided by the Security SPV.

17. Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. The Company, in the ordinary course of business, enters into various transactions with related parties.

Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

17. Related party transactions

17.1 Investec Bank Limited

Investec Bank Limited is the Parent entity of Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited. In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, Investec Bank Limited consolidates Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited. This is because Investec Bank Limited is exposed to variability of returns from Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited and has the ability to affect these returns through the power it has.

The following transactions took place between Investec Bank Limited and Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited.

Servicing and administration fees

Investec Bank Limited is the appointed servicing and administration agent to Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited, details of which are set out in Note 15 above. Fees payable to Investec Bank Limited under these agreements during the period amounted to:

	2020 R	2019 R
	R	K
Servicing fee	986 800	682,411
Administration fee	57 500	36,863

Investec Bank Limited (through its ICIB division) is the designated banker for Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited.

- Petty cash	102	102
- Bank current account	93,329,699	106,620,240

Subordinated loan

Investec Bank Limited (through its ICIB division) has provided the subordinated loan to Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited (refer to Note 8) which serves as credit enhancement to the notes. Interest is charged on the subordinated loan in accordance with the Priority of Payments. Interest for the period amounted to R2 036 006 (2019: R1 316 403).

Investment in notes

On 20 August 2018, Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited issued and listed R1.335bn of notes on the Interest Rate Market of the JSE. A portion of these notes were invested by Investec Bank Limited. The following balances relating to the investment in the notes were applicable at the end of the period:

	2020	2019
	R	R
- Residential mortgage backed securities	1,102,893,747	1,277,060,372
- Accrued interest on notes	9,953,776	11,839,183

Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

17. Related party transactions (continued)

17.2 Other related party transactions

Quadridge Trust Services Proprietary Limited

Quadridge Trust Services Proprietary Limited are external service providers that provide, trust and fiduciary services. Trust and fiduciary fees were charged by Quadridge Trust Services Proprietary Limited, the trustees of Fox Street 6 Owner Trust and Fox Street 6 Security SPV Owner Trust respectively, as follows:

	2020	
	R	R
Quadridge Trust Services Proprietary Limited	151 867	136,179

Fox Street 6 Owner Trust

The Trust was established solely to be a beneficial shareholder of all of the ordinary shares in Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited. The Trust is managed by Quadridge Trust Services Proprietary Limited. No payments were made to Fox Street 6 Owner Trust during the current year.

Fox Street 6 Security SPV

The Security SPV was incorporated for the purposes of holding and realising security for the benefit of Secured Creditors, including Noteholders of Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited. No payments were made to the Security SPV during the current year.

Fox Street 6 Security SPV Owner Trust

Fox Street 6 Security SPV Owner Trust is the sole beneficial shareholder of all the ordinary shares of Fox Street 6 Security SPV. No payments were made to the Security SPV during the current year.

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

18. Risk management

In common with all other businesses, the Company is exposed to financial risks. These risks are managed as part of the normal operations of the Company and the Board of Directors oversees the effectiveness of the risk management processes carried out by Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited.

The collectability of amounts due is subject to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks and will generally fluctuate in response to, among other things, market interest rates, general economic conditions and the financial standing of borrowers.

The more important financial risks to which the Company is exposed are described below:

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may have insufficient cash to meet its financial obligations, specifically in the short-term.

Cash flows are monitored regularly to ensure that cash resources are adequate to meet the Company's requirements.

Maturities of financial liabilities

2020	Less than 1 month R	Between 1 and 3 months R	Between 3 months and 1 year R	Between 1 and 5 years R	More than 5 years R	Total R
Residential mortgage backed						
securities	-	63,862,685	87,644,925	438,224,624	513,161,513	1,102,893,747
Subordinated loan	_	-	-	-	20,039,716	20,039,716
Accrued interest	-	10 167 899	-	-	, , , -	10,167,899
Trade and other payables	-	798,788	_	_	_	798,788
Derivative Financial		,				,
Instrument		997,103			<u>-</u>	997,103
	-	75,826,475	87,644,925	438,224,624	533,201,229	1,134,897,253

2019	Less than 1 month R	Between 1 and 3 months R	Between 3 months and 1 year R	Between 1 and 5 years R	More than 5 years R	Total R
Residential mortgage backed						
securities	-	36,563,764	87,914,385	30,288,846	1,122,293,377	1,277,060,372
Subordinated Loan	-	-	-	-	20,039,716	20,039,716
Accrued interest	-	1 316 403	11,839,183	-	-	13,155,586
Trade and other payables		674,315		<u>-</u> .	-	674,315
	<u> </u>	38,554,482	99,753,568	30,288,846	1,142,333,093	1,310,929,989

The maturity analysis for financial liabilities represents the basis for effective management of exposure to structural liquidity risk.

Cash flows are monitored on a monthly basis through the Priority of Payments to ensure that cash resources are adequate to meet the necessary requirements.

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

18. Risk management (continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises when potential changes in relevant interest paid to investors and the rates earned on loans to borrowers and investments, occur at different times, at different rates and with varying degrees of uncertainty. Due to the Company's assets being linked to the prime rate, and the notes linked to the 3 Month Jibar rate, the Company is exposed to interest rate risk. This exposure is mitigated through the interest rate swap entered into with Investec Bank Limited, as derivative counterparty.

The interest rate swap is a Level 2 financial instrument as the swap is not listed in an active market, however the fair value is calculated on directly observable market inputs.

There were no transfers between any of the fair value hierarchy levels during the current year.

As the instrument is classified as a cash flow hedge, any movements in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income, as far as hedge effectiveness is met. As at year end the hedge was effective.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect losses arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, personnel, technology and other external causes.

Prime responsibility for managing this risk is outsourced in terms of the Servicing Agreement and Administration Agreement to Investec Bank Limited. The Directors of the Company and the trustees are responsible for monitoring the performance of Investec Bank Limited in this regard.

Credit risk

Credit risk represents the financial risk to the Company as a result of a default by the counterparty, that is, failure of counterparty to comply with its obligations to service the outstanding debt. Credit risk is defined in terms of Investec Bank Limited's credit policies and procedures manual, which establishes sound credit risk management processed. These procedures and processes are monitored by the Credit Committee of Investec Bank Limited.

The obligations of each borrower to Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited in respect of repayment of a loan are secured by mortgage bonds registered in favour of Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited over the property of such borrowers. The collateral of the loans is represented by these properties. As at 31 March 2020, the value of the collateral held is R1 996 657 987 (2019: R1 946 680 937)

IFRS 9 requirements have been embedded into our company credit risk classification and provisioning policy. A framework has been established to incorporate both quantitative and qualitative measures. Policies for financial assets at amortised cost and at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), in accordance with IFRS 9, have been developed as described below:

Definition of default

The company has aligned the IFRS 9 and regulatory definitions of default, credit impaired and non-performing exposure. Assets that are more than 90 days past due, or considered by management as unlikely to pay their obligations in full without realisation of collateral are considered as exposures in default.

Stage 1

All assets that are considered performing and have not had a significant increase in credit risk will be reported as Stage 1 assets. Under IFRS 9 these Stage 1 financial assets have loss allowances measured at an amount equal to a 12-month ECL.

Stage

Financial assets are considered to be in Stage 2 when their credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. The company is required to hold a loss allowance equivalent to a lifetime ECL in terms of IFRS 9.

The company's primary indicator for Stage 2 assets are distressed loans, potential problem loans and exposures in arrears that require additional attention and supervision from Watchlist committees and are under management review. This comprises exposures that may potentially become distressed as a result of changes in the economic environment or adverse share price movements, or that are vulnerable to volatile exchange rate or interest rate movements or idiosyncratic financial distress, or private clients who have undergone a significant deterioration in financial circumstances.

Assets that have been subject to forbearance are considered to be, at a minimum, Stage 2. Forbearance measures refer to concessions such as modification of the terms and conditions or refinancing that has been granted to a debtor in financial difficulties. These exposures are assessed on a case by case basis to determine whether the proposed modifications will be considered as forbearance. Where the credit committee considers it likely that the client will be able to return to perform against the original contractual obligations within a reasonable timeframe these assets will be considered performing and in Stage 2. Forbearance is distinguished from commercial renegotiations which take place as part of normal business activity and standard banking practice.

In addition to loans under management review, an asset may also move from Stage 1 to Stage 2 if the model calculated probability of default (PD) has significantly increased since origination. This is tested as both a relative and absolute measure, to further inform whether a significant deterioration in lifetime risk of default has occurred.

As a backstop, the company does not rebut the presumption in IFRS 9 that all financial assets that are more than 30 days past due have experienced a significant increase in credit risk.

Exposures move back to Stage 1 once they no longer meet the criteria above for a significant increase in credit risk and as cure periods (specifically relating to forborne exposure) are met.

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

18. Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Stage 3

Financial assets will be included in Stage 3 when there is objective evidence of credit impairment. Under IFRS 9, the company assesses a loan as Stage 3 when contractual payments of either principal or interest are past due for more than 90 days, the debtor is assessed as unlikely to pay and credit impaired, or the loan is otherwise considered to be in default, for example due to the appointment of an administrator or in receivership. The company's policy is not to rebut the presumption in IFRS 9 that loans which are more than 90 days past due are in default.

ECL

The assessment of credit risk and the estimation of ECL are required to be unbiased, probability-weighted and should incorporate all available information relevant to the assessment, including information about past events, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts of economic conditions at the reporting date. In addition, the estimation of ECL should take into account the time value of money. As a result, the recognition and measurement of impairment is intended to be more forward-looking and resulting impairment charge may be more volatile. IFRS 9 will result in an increase in the total level of impairment allowances, since all financial assets if not measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) will be assessed for at least 12-month ECL.

Investec management addressed the COVID-19 impact on the Private Bank portfolio (Fox Street 6 is managed as part of this portfolio) as follows:

- The ECL as at March 2020 was calculated using revised macroeconomic variable forecasts and scenario weightings (dated 13 April 2020).
- Additional staging rule to assess impacted accounts which require COVID-19 relief measures (i.e. payment holidays, restructured credit exposures and loan modifications) where the impact is not considered temporary and migrate them to Stage 2.

Write-offs

The company's policy on when financial assets are written off has not significantly changed on adoption of IFRS 9. A loan or advance is normally written off, in full, against the related allowance when the proceeds from realising any available security have been received or there is a reasonable amount of certainty that the exposure will not be recovered. Similarly the treatment and recognition of recoveries is unaffected by the implementation of IFRS 9. Any recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of impairment losses.

Internal credit rating models and ECL methodology

Internal credit rating models cover all material asset classes. These internal credit rating models are also used for IFRS 9 modelling after adjusting for appropriate differences. Internal credit models calculate through the economic cycle losses whereas IFRS 9 requires 12-month or lifetime point-in-time losses based on conditions at the reporting date and multiple economic scenario forecasts of the future conditions over the expected lives.

Key drivers of measurement uncertainty – subjective elements and inputs

The measurement of ECL under IFRS 9 has a continued reliance on expert credit judgement. Key judgemental areas under the implementation of IFRS 9 are highlighted in this document and are subject to robust governance processes. Key drivers of measurement uncertainty include:

- the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk;
- the introduction of a range of forward-looking probability weighted macro-economic scenarios; and
- estimations of probabilities of default, loss given default and exposures at default using models.

In addition to these drivers, some initial judgements and assumptions were required in the design and build of IBL's ECL methodology, which are not considered to have a material impact. This includes the use of income recognition effective interest rates (EIRs) and used as the discount factor in the ECL calculation as well as the use of contractual maturity to assess behavioural lives. In addition where we have experienced limitations on the availability of probability of default origination data for the historic book, a portfolio average has been used in some instances.

ECLs are calculated using three main components:

- a probability of default (PD);
- a loss given default (LGD); and
- the exposure at default (EAD).

Under IFRS 9, the 12-month and lifetime PDs represent the probability of a default occurring over the next 12 months or the lifetime of the financial exposures, respectively, based on conditions existing at the balance sheet date and future forecast macro-economic conditions that affect credit risk.

The LGD represents losses expected on default, taking into account the mitigating effect of collateral, its expected value when realised and the time value of money. The forecast value for the collateral is also affected by the range of forward-looking probability weighted macro-economic scenarios.

The EAD represents the expected balance at default, taking into account the repayment of principal and interest from the balance sheet date to the default event together with any expected drawdown of a committed facility.

The calculation of the 12-month ECL is based on the 12-month PD and LGD along with the EAD and effective interest rate (EIR) for the asset. Lifetime ECL is calculated using the lifetime PD curve, and the appropriate LGDs and EADs and discount rates derived from the EIR based on the remaining life of the financial asset.

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

18. Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Expert judgement models have also been utilised for certain portfolios where the ECL is found to be minimal, either due to the portfolio's small relative size or the low default nature of these portfolios, such as cash and balances held at central banks.

Management adjustments are made to modelled output to account for situations where additional information and known or expected risk factors have not been captured in the modelling process.

Forward-looking macro-economic scenarios

The measurement of ECL also requires the use of multiple economic scenarios to calculate a probability weighted forward-looking estimate. These scenarios are updated at least twice a year, or more frequently if there is a macro-economic shock or significant shift in expectations. The weighting of these scenarios for IFRS 9 as well as the scenarios themselves are discussed and approved by Investec Bank Limited's capital committee, which forms part of the principal governance framework for macro-economic scenarios.

A number of forecast economic scenarios are considered for capital planning, stress testing (including IBL specific stress scenarios) and IFRS 9.

For the company, five macro-economic scenarios are used in the measurement of ECL under IFRS 9. These scenarios incorporate a base case, two upside cases and a two downside cases. The aim of this economic scenario generation process is to provide a view of the current and projected state of the South African economy and the different economic scenarios that could occur in various stressed or improved environments over the next five years for a number of identified variables/risk drivers.

Overall asset quality

2020

	Loans and advances that are neither past due nor impaired R	Loans and advances that are past due but not impaired R	Loans and advances that are impaired R	Total loans and advances	Amount in arrears R
Current	1,042,952,108	-	_	1,042,952,108	_
Special mention	3,634,734	_	-	3,634,734	78,442
Sub-standard	2,794,373	_	-	2,794,373	93,436
Doubtful	, , , <u>-</u>	-	2,124,563	2,124,563	106,524
Loss	-	-	-	-	-
Total	1,049,381,215		2,124,563	1,051,505,778	278,402
2019					
	Loans and advances that are neither past due nor impaired R	Loans and advances that are past due but not impaired R	Loans and advances that are impaired R	Total loans and advances	Amount in arrears R
Current	1,208,548,710	-	_	1,208,548,710	_
Special mention	-,,,	-	-	-,,	-
Sub-standard	-	-	-	-	-
Doubtful	-	-	-	-	-
Loss	-	-	-	-	-
Total	1,208,548,710			1,208,548,710	

The maximum exposure of the mortgage advances is the carrying value at year-end, before the deduction of collateral held.

Credit quality analysis				
2020	Stage 1 ECL	Stage 2 ECL	Stage 3 ECL	ECL
Intercompany receivable	694,405	391,156	660,620	1,746,181
2019	Stage 1 ECL	Stage 2 ECL	Stage 3 ECL	ECL
Intercompany receivable	615,031	119,869	-	734,900

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

19. Financial assets and liabilities

Analysis of assets and liabilities by measurement basis

2020	Amortised cost R	Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss R	Liabilities at amortised cost R	Non-financial instruments/financial instrument excluded from IFRS 9 R	Total R
Assets					
Intercompany receivable	1,049,759,597	_	_	-	1,049,759,597
Cash and cash equivalents*	93,329,801	-	-	-	93,329,801
Trade and other receivables*	1,028,473	-	-	-	1,028,473
Deferred tax asset*	-	-	-	580,016	580,016
Taxation Receivable		-	-	49,988	49,988
	1,144,117,871	-	-	630,004	1,144,747,875
Liabilities					
Residential mortgage backed securities	-	-	1,102,893,747	-	1,102,893,747
Subordinated loan*	-	-	20,039,716	-	20,039,716
Derivative financial instruments	-	997,103	-	-	997,103
Accrued interest*	-	-	10,167,899	-	10,167,899
Deferred income*	-	-	219,794	-	219,794
Current tax liability	-	-	-	-	-
VAT liability*	-		-	(9,435)	(9,435)
Trade and other payables*		-	808,223	<u> </u>	808,223
		997,103	1,134,129,379	(9,435)	1,135,117,047
				Non-financial	

2019	Amortised cost	Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss	Liabilities at amortised cost	Non-financial instruments/financial instrument excluded from IFRS 9	Total
	R	R	R	R	R
Assets					
Intercompany receivable	1,207,813,810	-	-	-	1,207,813,810
Derivative financial instruments	-	4,825,265	-	-	4,825,265
Cash and cash equivalents*	106,620,342	-	-	-	106,620,342
Subordinated loan*	-	-	-	-	709,244
Deferred tax asset*	-	-	-	170,508	170,508
	1,314,434,152	4,825,265	-	170,508	1,319,429,925
Liabilities					
Residential mortgage backed securities	-	-	1,277,060,372	-	1,277,060,372
		-	20,039,716	-	20,039,716
Accrued interest*	-	-	13,155,586	-	13,155,586
Deferred income*	-	-	75,762	-	75,762
Current tax liability	-	-	-	148,704	148,704
VAT liability*	-	-	-	2,317	2,317
Trade and other payables*	-	-	674,315	-	674,315
	-	-	1,311,005,751	151,021	1,311,156,772

^{*} For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or have a short-term maturity (less than three months) it is assumed that the carrying amounts approximate their fair value. This assumption also applies to demand deposits, savings accounts without a specific maturity and variable rate financial instruments.

The valuation method applied is as follows:

- Level 1 for the Cash on hand
- Level 2 for the loans and receivables

There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 of the fair value hierarchy for the financial assets and liabilities which are recorded at fair value.

Notes to the annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

20. Fair values of financial instruments

Valuation models

For more complex instruments, the Company uses proprietary valuation models. Some or all of the significant inputs into these models may not be observable in the market, and are derived from market prices or rates or are estimated based on assumptions. Valuation models that employ significant unobservable inputs require a higher degree of management judgement and estimation in the determination of fair value. Management judgement and estimation are usually required for the selection of the appropriate valuation model to be used, determination of expected future cash flows on the financial instrument being valued, determination of the probability of counterparty default and prepayments, determination of expected volatilities and correlations and selection of appropriate discount rates.

Fair value estimates obtained from models are adjusted for any other factors, such as liquidity risk or model uncertainties, to the extent that the Company believes that a third party market participant would take them into account in pricing a transaction. Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the Company entity and the counterparty where appropriate. For measuring derivatives that might change classification from being an asset to a liability or vice versa such as interest rate swaps.

During the current year, low trading volumes continued and there has not been sufficient trading volume to establish an active market for certain asset-backed securities and so the Company has determined the fair value for these asset-backed securities using other valuation techniques. These securities are backed primarily by static pools of residential mortgages and enjoy a senior claim on cash flows.

The Company's methodology for valuing these asset-backed securities uses a discounted cash flow technique that takes into account the probability of default and loss severity by considering the original underwriting criteria, vintage borrower attributes, LTV ratios, expected house price movements and expected prepayment rates. These features are used to estimate expected cash flows, which are then allocated using the 'waterfall' applicable to the security and discounted at a risk-adjusted rate. The discounted cash flow technique is often used by market participants to price asset-backed securities. However, this technique is subject to inherent limitations, such as estimation of the appropriate risk-adjusted discount rate, and different assumptions and inputs would yield different results

Valuation framework

The Company has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. Specific controls include:

- re-performance of model valuations;
- analysis and investigation of significant daily valuation movements

Financial instruments measured at fair value - Fair value hierarchy

	Level 2 R 2020
Cash flow hedge	(997,103)
	R 2010
Cash flow hedge	2019 4,825,265

Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

21. Going Concern

The COVID-19 coronavirus outbreak has caused a significant deterioration in economic conditions worldwide. Management has concluded that there are no material uncertainties regarding the ability of Fox Street 6 (RF) Limited to operate as a going concern because the company has been set up as an insolvency remote special purpose vehicle. Secured creditors have agreed to certain subordination, non-petition, and enforcement clauses.

Each Noteholder agrees that its claims against the Issuer and the Security SPV are subordinated for the benefit of other Secured Creditors in accordance with the Priority of Payments.

Once all the assets of the Issuer have been extinguished, each Noteholder abandons all claims it may have against the Issuer in respect of amounts still owing to it but unpaid, and the Issuer's liability to the Noteholders shall be completely discharged.

Each Noteholder agrees that only the Security SPV may enforce the security created in favour of the Security SPV by the Security Agreements in accordance with the provisions of the Security Agreements and the Transaction Documents.

The rights of Noteholders against the Issuer will be limited to the extent that the Noteholders will not be entitled to take any action or proceedings against the Issuer.

The Noteholders will not, until 2 years following payment of all amounts outstanding and all the other Transaction Documents, institute, or join with any person in instituting or vote in favour of, any steps or legal proceedings for the winding-up, liquidation, de-registration, supervision by a business rescue practitioner, or any compromise or scheme of arrangement or related relief.

Furthermore, in accordance with the transaction documents, when all assets have been expunged, all secured creditors will waive their claims against the Company. Because of this legal set-up, the Company's outgoing cash flows are limited to both its assets and the yield on these assets and it therefore continues to operate as a going concern.

22. Events after the reporting date

No material events have occurred between 31 March 2020 and the date of this report with the exception of the Covid-19 implications as stated in the Going Concerns section above.

23. Approval of annual financial statements

The annual financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 27 July 2020.